0A 2-14.95 FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 5 1994:

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By \_\_\_\_\_\_
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 84,106

LARK O'SEAN DUPREE,

Respondent.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

A. JAY PLOTKIN ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY FLA. BAR #607762

OFFICE OF THE STATE ATTORNEY FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT 330 EAST BAY STREET, SUITE 600 JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32202

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR #325791

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 904/488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent Dupree, defendant in the trial court and appellant in the district court, will be referred to as defendant. Petitioner state, appellee in the district court, will be referred to as the state. References to the record on appeal will be by use of the symbol R followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the transcript of proceedings will be by the use of T followed by the appropriate page number(s). The transcripts for the trial under review begin with volume VIII, T811.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendant was indicted and convicted of first degree murder of Jirisha Thompson on 21 September 1991. R134-135, R145, R191-194. Prior to trial the state filed a notice that it intended to introduce evidence of out-of-court statements made by the deceased child's brother, Joshua Tunsill, as hearsay exceptions pursuant to section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1989). R33-40. A hearing was held on 20 April 1992, T45-150, at which the state argued that the hearsay exception was applicable to a child witness pursuant to Russell v. State, 572 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), and the defendant contended that Russell was not applicable and that the section 90.803(23) hearsay exception did not apply to child witnesses of child and sexual abuse who were not themselves the victims in the charged offense. T134-150. The trial court ruled that the hearsay exception criteria had been met and the evidence was admissible. T148-150. On appeal, the district court held that the hearsay exception was only applicable to the child victim of the charged offense and reversed the conviction for retrial. Dupree v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1404 (Fla. 1st DCA June 29, 1994). The state petitioned this Court for discretionary review based on conflict with Russell, which was granted by order dated 9 November 1994.

At trial, the state presented the following sequential evidence on which the jury based its verdict. The medical examiner, Dr. Arruza, testified at T1011-1085 that the victim was

a two-year old infant girl with numerous bruises which were not caused by medical treatment but were caused by blunt impacts within 24 hours of death. Tl018-1030. Further, there were seven identifiable blunt impacts to the top of the head which caused a nine-inch fracture with wide gaps. T1030-1034. The impacts themselves were very forceful and could not have been accidental unless the accident involved something like a six-story fall or a motor vehicle accident. T1034-1050. The infant died from blunt head traumas within 24 hours of death and there were no indications of previous injuries. T1050-1067. The medical examiner also testified that the blunt impacts were consistent with the child hitting a fixed object with great force but not with a moving object hitting the child with great force. T1078-1079. Further, that the locations of the blunt impacts on the top of the head were such that they could not been caused by play or accident and that they would have caused instant unconsciousness. T1079-1082. The treating physician, Dr. DeNicola testified at T1090-1126 that he first had contact with the deceased child at approximately 10-11 p.m. on 21 September 1991 when the child was unconscious in a pre-death state, T1095, that there was a soft area on the back of the head similar to water in a plastic bag, and that there were extensive fractures caused within six hours of his examination. T1096-1099. He further opined that the blunt impacts would have been very severe, could have been caused by repeated impact with a wall or fixed object, T1107-1109, and that the injuries would have required a great deal of force which would have rendered the victim instantaneously unconscious. T1112-1125.

The surviving sibling, Joshua, testified concisely on direct examination at T1127-1132 that he had seen the defendant bump the victim's head to the wall five times while their mother was absent at the store. He also demonstrated to the jury using a doll how the defendant swung the deceased child to strike the wall.

through T1162. There was no redirect by the state. An appendix containing Joshua's testimony is attached for the convenience of the reader. The state will argue below that the central theme of the lengthy cross examination was to express or imply that Joshua's testimony was due to improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication. From this, the state will argue that the prior consistent statements of Joshua were also admissible pursuant to section 90.801(2)(b) as hearsay exceptions without regard to their admissability under section 90.803(23). The record facts underlying this issue will be set out in the argument on issue II below.

There was testimony from the mother of the children, Beatrice Thompson, that they had been left in the care of defendant, who was a live-in boyfriend, for a short period of time at approximately 7:30 p.m. on the 21st when she went to a grocery store, that the deceased had no bruises or other injuries when she left, and that the deceased child was unconscious on the floor when she returned. T1163-1195. The mother was cross examined, and further examined, from T1195-1233. The defense

asked if Joshua would say things other people told him to say and was answered, "yes definitely," at T1208-1209. She was also asked repeatedly if Joshua had ever told her that the defendant slammed the deceased victim's head into the wall and answered no. See, e.g., T1216-1219. On redirect, she denied ever telling Joshua to testify as he did that the defendant had slammed the child's head into the wall five times. T1227.

Alice Wong, a protective investigator supervisor for HRS, testified that she observed an interview with Joshua conducted on 25 September 1991 by Eleanor Coyle, a member of a child protection team; and that only Ms. Coyle and Joshua were in the interview room. Tl239-1243. Ms. Wong and two police officers were in another room observing by two-way mirror and a television monitor. She made notes on the interview and further testified that Ms. Coyle put Joshua at ease, that he spoke spontaneously, that he was not led, and that Joshua said the defendant was always fighting the deceased child, and had punched her and bumped her head into the wall several times while the mother was gone. Joshua demonstrated the bumping with a doll. Tl237-1249.

Evidence officer Crews described the walls of the home where the murder occurred as "real thick, hard plaster." T1264. The grandmother of the two children, Louise Thompson, testified that the deceased child was uninjured when she saw her last on the day before her fatal injuries. T1273-1281. On cross examination, she said that Joshua had never told her that the defendant abused the deceased or had banged her head against a

wall or door. T1282, T1285. Detective Bradley testified that the defendant had given him three conflicting exculpatory statements on the child's injuries. T1294-1327. He was not questioned on his observation of the child protection team interview of Joshua by either the state or defense.

Doctor McIntosh, the medical director of the Duval County child protection team, testified at Tl250-1386 that he had examined the medical records of the deceased, that the fracture would have required an extremely powerful and strong force and to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the injuries were not accidental and were caused by some form of abuse.

The state then rested and the defense called Officers
Bradley and Emanuel. They were both questioned on what Joshua
had previously told them and whether they had suggested Joshua's
testimony to him. Both denied suggesting the testimony. T13921422. An HRS investigator, Debra Allen, was also called by the
defense and questioned concerning her interview with Joshua and
whether he had reported to her that the defendant had struck the
deceased's head against the wall; she was also questioned on
whether she had suggested Joshua's testimony to him. Her answer
to both was no. T1423-1435. The defense also called Mary Dupree
Gantt, Jerome Williams, Louis Woodard, and Mabel Woods, who
testified that the defendant was a peaceable person. T1436-1469.
The defendant also took the stand and denied that he had abused,
hit, or otherwise caused the death of the deceased child. T14701569.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in admitting the out-of-court statements of the child pursuant to section 90.803(23). The statute and its preamble show a clear legislative intent to admit into evidence trustworthy out-of-court statements by children who are victims or witnesses of child abuse and child sexual abuse.

Moreover, even if the statements were not admissible pursuant to section 90.803(23), they were clearly admissible pursuant to section 90.801(2) to rebut implied or express claims that the child's in-court testimony was a recent fabrication or was due to improper influence or motive. Thus, the error if any was irrelevant and could not have impacted the jury verdict.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS OF THE CHILD WERE ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO SECTION 90.803(23)?

The relevant facts are that Joshua Tunsill, a six-year old child, was interviewed by a child protection team member, Eleanor Coyle, on 25 September 1991. This interview was observed from another room by Alice Wong, a protective investigator supervisor for HRS, and two police officers. 1 The observers viewed and heard the interview through a two-way mirror and a sound television. Joshua told the interviewer that the defendant had punched the decedent child and repeatedly bumped her head into a wall while the children's mother was temporarily absent from the home. The question for the trial court was whether section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1990) was applicable and would permit the out-of-court statements of the child to be introduced into evidence by the observers or the interviewer. Specifically, the state argued that the statute was not narrowly applicable only to child victims of charged offenses, in this case the deceased, but was also applicable to child witnesses to any child or sexual abuse offenses. The defendant argued that the statute was only applicable to the deceased child victim. The state argued that Russell v. State, 570 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 5th

Alice Wong was the only witness called by the state for the purpose of recounting the out-of-court statement.

DCA 1990), where the district court read the statute as permitting child witnesses of the sexual abuse to testify even though they were not the victims of the charged offense was controlling. The trial court ruled that Russell was applicable and followed it pursuant to case law making decisions of another district court controlling unless contradicted by decisions of the cognizant district court or of this Court. Pardo v. State, 596 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1992); Stanfill v. State, 384 So. 2d 141, 143 (Fla. 1980).

The statutory language at issue reads as follows:

- (23) HEARSAY EXCEPTION; STATEMENT OF CHILD VICTIM.
- (a) Unless the source of information or the method or circumstances by which the statement is reported indicates a lack of trustworthiness, an out-of-court statement made by a child victim with a physical, mental, emotional, or developmental age of 11 or less describing any act of child abuse or neglect, any act of sexual abuse against a child, the offense of child abuse, offense of aggravated child abuse, or any offense involving an unlawful sexual act, contact, intrusion, or penetration performed in the presence of, with, by, or on the declarant child, not otherwise admissible, is admissible in evidence in any civil or criminal proceeding of: .....

The remaining statutory language is not at issue. Because this is an issue of statutory interpretation, judicial review here is de novo with no presumption of correctness afforded the courts below.

There are a number of rules of statutory interpretation to be applied. The cardinal rule is that the court should attempt to effect legislative intent; other rules of construction are

subservent to that cardinal rule of determining legislative Florida State Racing Commission v. McLaughlin, 102 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 1958). In determining this intent, the entire statute should be considered and construed as a whole so that it is meaningful in all parts. Wiloncky v. Fields, 267 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1972) Intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute itself; ambiguity should not be created where none exists. S.R.G. Corp. v. DOR, 365 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1978). However, legislative intent should be given effect even if it contradicts the strict letter of the statute, and no statute should be construed so as to produce an absurd result. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1981). In determining intent, the court should consider the evil or problem to be remedied and the purpose of the statute. Webb. A declaration by the legislature of the purpose or evil to be addressed is highly persuasive. D.O.T. v. Fortune, 532 So. 2d 1267 (Fla. 1988).

Turning to an analysis of the statute itself, there are ambiguities. The term "child victim" is not on its face limited only to child victims of charged offenses when used, as here, in an evidentiary statute which does not define the statutory elements of a criminal offense. Thus, the rule of construction set out in section 775.021(1) favoring a criminal defendant is not applicable here. Moreover, other statutory language clearly shows that the statute is addressing instances where there are multiple victims and witnesses. Common experience confirms that this is frequently the case. On this point, see section 1.01(1), Florida Statutes which prescribes that in construing statutes,

the singular includes the plural and vice versa where the context permits. Further, the statutory language, "describing any act of child abuse or neglect, any act of sexual abuse against a child, the offense of child abuse, the offense of aggravated child abuse, or any offense involving an unlawful sexual act, contact, intrusion, or penetration performed in the presence of, with, by, declarant child, not otherwise admissible, is oradmissible" (e.s.) is expansive, not restrictive and suggests that the statute is applicable to all child witnesses to all of the enumerated offenses involving child victims. <sup>2</sup> As this case shows, a "declarant child" is not necessarily the "child victim" of the charged offense. Thus, there is an ambiguity calling for interpretation and a strong suggestion that the legislature intended the statute to cover more than the child victim of the charged offense<sup>3</sup>.

The evils or problems which the legislature sought to address are set out in the WHEREAS clauses of chapter 85-53, Laws of Florida which created section  $90.803(23)^4$ 

WHEREAS, ... and,

Pursuant to <u>Russell</u>, Joshua was a victim of the uncharged offense of simple child abuse under section 827.04, Florida Statutes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The state does not consider it dispositive but, as an officer of the court, undersigned counsel point out that the Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statements of 1 May, revised 10 May, 1985 contain a sentence with emphasis in original: "This hearsay exception applies only to child victims who are witnesses."

Section 90.803(23) was subsequently expanded beyond sexual abuse to cover other offenses, such as here, by chapter 90-174, §4, Laws of Florida.

WHEREAS, children are in need of special protection as victims or witnesses in the judicial system as a result of their age and vulnerability, and WHEREAS, ... and, WHEREAS, a young child is able to relate descriptions of acts involving sexual contact sexual acts performed in the child's manner based presence in a reliable child's consideration ο£ the age development, and WHEREAS, the credibility and reliability of a testimony can be assured child's procedural safeguards that will not infringe upon the defendant's right to a fair trial or any party in a judicial rights of proceeding, and WHEREAS, it is necessary that safeguards be instituted for the children of the State of Florida who are victimized to assure that their right to be free from emotional harm trauma occassioned bу judicial proceedings is protected by the court, and WHEREAS, effective handling of child abuse cases in the judicial system is essential to future protection of the child, and WHEREAS, the Legislature recognizes special provisions are necessary to assure that evidence of unlawful sexual offenses against children is admissible in the courts, based sound principles of upon development, and WHEREAS, the assistance of professionals and persons having a special relationship with the child can aid the courts in assuring full access to legal remedies for the protection of children, NOW, THEREFORE Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida

There are numerous evils or problems in the WHEREAS clauses which cannot be addressed if the statute is truncated by limiting it only to actual child victims of the charged offense. First, the actual victim of the charged offense may not be available as a witness. Here, the victim was only two years old and it is doubtful if she could have testified, even had she survived the aggravated child abuse. She didn't, of course. (Logically,

witnesses to sexual and criminal abuse of children are more likely to be other children than adults because adult witnesses are more of a deterrent to such crimes.) Further, even had the two-year old survived, the six-year old would be a more reliable witness if interviewed, as here, by a trained and experienced professional well qualified to conduct interviews of young children. Second, the WHEREAS clauses are clearly treating the of the charged witnesses, not merely victims children as offenses. Indeed, the clauses are primarily aimed at children as Third, the rule in Florida is witnesses rather than victims. that all relevant evidence is admissible except as provided by §90.402, Fla. Stat. There is no question here that the procedural safeguards of section 90.803(23) were fully satisfied and that the out-of-court statements of Joshua are reliable as determined by the Legislature 5. The defendant here was afforded full constitutional right to confrontation and his examination on the declarant's statement. There is no logical basis for denying the courts of Florida this highly relevant under conditions showing evidence which is obtained trustworthiness.

It should also be noted that the <u>Russell</u> decision on which the trial court relied in 1992 was decided in 1990. It is presumed that legislatures are familiar with court decisions interpreting statutes. <u>State v. Gonzalez</u>, 467 So. 2d 723, 726

See, footnote 4 of the district court decision below. The defendant did not contest the issue of whether the findings of reliability were sufficient. These findings, even if error, do no constitute fundamental error. State v. Townsend, 635 So. 2d 949, 959 (Fla. 1994).

(Fla. 3d DCA 1985). The Florida Legislature had not acted to overrule Russell as of 1992 and it has not done so to this date in late 1994. This suggests that Russell correctly interprets legislative intent by addressing the evils and problems with which the Legislature was concerned. To illustrate the point, see the district court decision in Childress v. State, 543 So. 2d 413 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) narrowly interpreting section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1987) as applying only to child sexual abuse cases, not child abuse. The Legislature responded by enacting chapter 90-174, §3, Laws of Florida, to overrule Childress.

In summary, the language of the Act and the rules of statutory interpretation show that the legislative intent can only be satisfied by holding that section 90.803(23) is applicable to all children who witness child abuse or child sexual abuse crimes. Contrary to the flawed conclusion of the district court below, this would not require that out-of-court statements by children witnessing crimes against adults be admissible as hearsay exceptions under section 90.803(23).

#### ISSUE II

WAS THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENT OF THE DECLARANT CHILD ADMISSIBLE AS A PRIOR CONSISTENT STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 90.801(2)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES?

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