OA 2.14.95

047

FILED

SID J. WHITE

DEC 12 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
	:	
Petitioner,	:	
	:	
v.	:	CASE NO. 84,106
	:	
LARK O'SEAN DUPREE,	:	
	:	
Respondent.	:	

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID P. GAULDIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 261580
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

In its second issue, the state attempts to raise an issue that was never raised at the trial court as far as the undersigned can determine, and which most assuredly was not

raised in the Florida First District Court of Appeal either by answer brief or by rehearing petition. This court has held that procedural default rules are applicable to the state as well as to the defense.

Moreover, it is important to note that prior to the taking of the relevant testimony in the first trial, the trial court in this case ruled that this testimony was admissible pursuant to Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes. Thus, defense counsel knew from that point forward that this testimony was going to be admitted, and he crafted his strategy accordingly. This case initially ended in a mistrial, and prior to the admission of this testimony in the second trial, defense counsel again objected, and was again told that this testimony was going to be admitted pursuant to the hearsay exception.

Finally, it should be pointed out that the state attempted to bolster this testimony by asking the child protection team worker that overheard Alice Wong interview the child whether Joshua Tunsill appeared to be "coached", and the witness indicated that he had not. Thus, it was the prosecution, not defense counsel, which first raised the insinuation that the child's testimony might be a recent fabrication.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS OF THE CHILD WERE ADMISSIBLE PURSUANT TO SECTION 90.803(23).

Prior to the testimony of Alice Wong, defense counsel renewed his objections to her testimony which had been denied prior to the first trial. (T-1234-1237). In a hearing held prior to the first trial the trial court (incredibly) applied Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes, to Wong's testimony. (T-134-150). Wong was then allowed to testify to the hearsay statements of non-child victim Joshua Tunsill, as detailed in the statement of the facts in this brief. (T-8-9). These hearsay statements as testified to before the jury by Wong differed from Tunsill's trial testimony and were extremely prejudicial. Section 90.803(23)(a) provides:

(23) HEARSAY EXCEPTION; STATEMENT OF CHILD VICTIM.--

(a) Unless the source of information or the method or circumstances by which the statement is reported indicates a lack of trustworthiness, an out-of-court statement made by a child victim with a physical, mental, emotional, or developmental age of 11 or less describing any act of child abuse or neglect, any act of sexual abuse against a child, the offense of child abuse, the offense of aggravated child abuse, or any offense involving an unlawful sexual act, contact, intrusion, or penetration performed in the presence of, with, by, or on the declarant child, not otherwise admissible, is admissible in evidence in any civil or criminal proceeding if:

1. The court finds in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient safeguards of

reliability. In making its determination, the court may consider the mental and physical age and maturity of the child, the nature and duration of the abuse or offense, the relationship of the child to the offender, the reliability of the assertion, the reliability of the child victim, and any other factor deemed appropriate; and

2. The child either:
 - a. Testifies; or
 - b. Is unavailable as a witness, provided that there is other corroborative evidence of the abuse or offense. Unavailability shall include a finding by the court that the child's participation in the trial or proceeding would result in a substantial likelihood of severe emotional or mental harm, in addition to findings pursuant to s. 90.804(1). [Emphasis added]

Clearly, the plain language of this statute limits this hearsay exception to a "child victim". Joshua Tunsill was not a "child victim"; the alleged child victim in this case was his sister. The court should take specific notice that the term "child victim" is repeated twice in the statute and is also found in the title of the statute.

The criminal law must be strictly construed, and there can be no doubt that in its operation, this statute is penal in nature. State v. Wershow, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977). [Penal statutes must be strictly construed]. Even if this court does not believe that this is a penal statute this statute is in derogation of the common law and must be strictly construed for that reason. Graham v. Edwards, 472 So.2d 803 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), review denied, 482 So.2d 348 and Collinsworth v. O'Connell, 508 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

Further, this court in Jeffries v. State, 610 So.2d 440 (Fla. 1992), has stated:

We have stated elsewhere that common law rules of construction...cannot take precedence over provisions of the Constitution. Perkins v. State, 576 So.2d 1310, 1314 (Fla. 1991). We have also held that criminal statutes must be strictly construed according to their letter, and that this rule of strict construction emanates from Article I, Section 9 and Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution. Id. at 1312-1314.

In Jeffries, this court applied the strict rule of construction required in criminal cases (or cases whose sole purpose is to derogate the common law and to make it easier for the state to obtain a conviction), and noted that the literal language did not include the defendant in that case. The remedy in Jeffries was the same remedy suggested here (i.e., that "the legislature is free to redraft the statute with greater precision" if it feels that this statute should apply to child witnesses with a physical, mental, emotional or developmental age of 11 or less.)

Inquiry into legislative intent may begin only where the statute is ambiguous on its face. Burke Company v. Bruce M. Ross Co., 585 So.2d 382 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). If it is necessary to determine the legislative intent, courts must look to the plain language of the statute. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976); S.R.G. Corp. v. Department of Revenue, 365 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1978); In re Order on Prosecution of Criminal Appeals by Tenth Judicial Circuit Public Defender, 561 So.2d 1130 (Fla. 1990).

Other long-standing rules of statutory construction which are applicable to this case are that a court will refuse to add additional words into a statute where uncertainty prevails as to the intent of the legislature and that a court, in construing a statute, cannot invoke a limitation or add words to the statute not placed there by the legislature. Devin v. City of Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1976) and Chaffee v. Miami Transfer Co., Inc., 288 So.2d 209 (Fla. 1974). While the title of an act is not part of the basic act, it has the function of defining the scope of the act. The operative provisions of the statute are those which follow the enabling clause. Finn v. Finn, 312 So.2d 726 (Fla. 1975).

It should be noted that the title of the act is consistent with the body of the act in this case; i.e., the title of the act indicates that this statute is limited to a "child victim" under the appropriate circumstances, as is the body of the statute.

This was a criminal case and the plain meaning of the statute as evidenced by its language is that the hearsay exception applies only to a child "victim". End of story.

In the past, this statute has been strictly construed by the Florida First District Court of Appeal. Childress v. State, 543 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989).

There is a maverick and bizarre case that concludes otherwise, although the Florida First District Court of Appeal in its opinion below distinguished this case. Dupree v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1404, 1405, footnote 5 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

In Russell v. State, 572 So.2d 940 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), the principles of statutory construction referred to earlier were blithely ignored. Russell wrongly applied this exception to the exclusion of hearsay in order to allow the hearsay testimony of "J" the four-year old brother of the victim "A".

The Russell court wrongly applied this exception on two bases: first, the court fly-specked the preamble to Chapter 85-53, Laws of Florida, which in its second "Whereas" clause inexplicably provides "...children are in need of special protection as victims or witnesses in the judicial system as a result of their age and vulnerability...". This is the only paragraph in the preamble in which the term "witnesses" appears, and it does not appear in the language of the statute (which is the law, unlike the preamble, which is not) or the title of the statute. The court also justified an alternative reason for allowing "J's" testimony into evidence. According to the court, "J" was a "victim" because he witnessed lewd and lascivious acts committed in his presence.

Russell is just wrong. This is a criminal statute and a statute in derogation of the common law rule, and it must be strictly construed. The language in the statute restricts its use to the victim, and not to a child "witness". This appears to be another case where a court has found the underlying crime so abhorrent that it has judicially expanded the language of the statute, thus usurping the traditional legislative function and the separation of powers mandated by the Florida Constitution.

Russell involved sexual abuse, and this case involves child abuse. Under no stretch of the judicial imagination can it be construed that Joshua Tunsill was a "victim" in this case, notwithstanding the state's absurd charge that Tunsill was a victim to the uncharged crime "...of simple child abuse under Section 827.04, Florida Statutes" footnote 2, Petitioner's brief at 11. This is especially true as the state's witness testified that Tunsill didn't even realize what he was witnessing (Tunsill thought that his sister had died because the air conditioning was not working). (T-1249).

A number of points in Petitioner's brief don't need to be addressed, but will be lest they cause confusion.

First, the Petitioner only quotes a portion of the statute and makes the (incredible) claim that: "The remaining statutory language is not at issue." (Petitioner's brief at 9). In quoting only a portion of the statute, the Petitioner has eclipsed another relevant portion of the statute which contains a reference to "...the reliability of the child victim,...." Section 23(a)1. This is important for two reasons: 1) because it is another reference in the statute to the unambiguous term "child victim" and 2) because it clearly refers to the "child victim" in the singular. Indeed, this brings up the next point in the state's brief that will be commented upon.

Although the state strains to conclude that the preamble to the statute (which is not the law) indicates that the plural is used, it is clear that a plain reading of the statute (which is the law) indicates that the term child victim is singular,

and that all verbs that go with the term child victim are singular.³

Next, the state tries to argue that because the bizarre Russell decision upon which the trial court relied was decided in 1990, had not been "overruled" (state's language) by the "Florida legislature" as of "late 1994," that it "correctly interprets legislative intent by addressing the evils and problems with which the Legislature was concerned." (State's brief at 14). It should be pointed out that Russell was a district court decision, and this Court has the final say in determining the interpretation of a statute. Respondent might be more impressed had this Court acted as Russell had done in 1990 with a concomitant future failure of the legislature to overturn this Court's language. But that is not the case, and Petitioner's supposition is meaningless.

The district court's opinion in Dupree contains some interesting and relevant points. For instance, the District Court noted this court's recent interpretation of 90.803(23), Florida Statutes:

[This statute]...creates a limited exception to the hearsay rule for reliable statements of child victims, 11 years or younger, which describe an act of child or sexual abuse [emphasis added]; Feller v.

³Which, aside from the clear and plain language of the statute, is probably why the sentence staff's analysis and economic impact statements of May 1st and May 10th, 1985 "...contain a sentence with emphasis in original: "This hearsay exception applies only to child victims who are witnesses." (State's brief at 11, footnote 3).

State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly S196, S197 (Fla. 1994), [as quoted in Dupree at 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1405].

The District Court in Dupree also noted that it could not discover any Florida appellate decision that has expanded this statutory exception to include non-victim witnesses in cases involving non-sexual child abuse, and that no decision of the United States Supreme Court has upheld the use of a child's out-of-court statement under circumstances as outlined in the statute.

Finally, the decision by the District Court in Dupree concluded:

We find it unnecessary to reach any constitutional question in the present case, but we believe that the statute is properly construed against this constitutional backdrop. We cannot perceive, moreover, any reason for giving precedence to statements made out of court by children who reportedly witness violent crimes over such statements made by adults. After all, adults may be better able to articulate perceptions better informed, in the first place, by greater experience. [Dupree at D1405].

In this case, Wong's testimony was devastatingly prejudicial. She testified that Joshua told Coyle that Respondent "always" fought with his sister, that Respondent had punched his sister, that Respondent bumped his sister's head against the wall, and that Respondent dropped her into the bathtub, as well as bumped or hit her head on the brick wall outside. (T-1246).

In light of the foregoing, the District Court of Appeal's opinion should be affirmed.

ISSUE II

THE STATE HAS NO BUSINESS RAISING THIS ISSUE BECAUSE IT WAS NEVER RAISED IN EITHER COURT BELOW. (RESTATED).

As far as the undersigned can tell, for the first time ever the state raises the issue of whether "the out-of-court statement of the declarant child [was] admissible as a prior consistent statement pursuant to Section 90.801(2)(b), Florida Statutes."

This was not the basis of the trial court's ruling. This was not argued in the District Court of Appeal, either in the state's answer brief or in a rehearing petition.⁴

In Thomas v. State, 599 So.2d 158, 159 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), the state failed to argue in its answer brief the issue of waiver. For the first time on rehearing, the state raised the issue of waiver. In footnote 1 of that opinion, the Florida First District Court of Appeal remarked: "We specifically note that the state did not timely argue that this issue was not adequately preserved." Further, in that same footnote on pages 160 and 161 the Florida First District Court of Appeal stated:

The state's motion for rehearing acknowledges that this procedural waiver issue was not timely argued in its answer brief. However, in view of the dissent, the state now characterizes its omission as "an oversight" and contends that, "this oversight is not authority for this Court

⁴The state failed to file a rehearing petition in this case.

to address an issue which, as a matter of law, is procedurally barred" because waived by appellant, and, further, that "the State's failure to apprise the Court of this waiver in its brief most certainly does not constitute an "unwaiver" which confers judicial authority to consider an unpreserved issue." We reject the state's contention that appellant waived his objection to this evidence, not only because the state improperly attempts to insert this issue for the first time on motion for rehearing, but also because this contention is not supported by the record.

In this case, the state has not bothered to apprise this Court that this issue is being raised for the first time, and that the state did not raise this issue in its answer brief or even in a rehearing petition.

In raising this issue without mentioning that it had never been raised below, the state suffers from both gall and tunnel vision. In Cannady v. State, 620 So.2d 165, 170 (Fla. 1993), this court stated: "Contemporaneous objection and procedural default rules apply not only to defendants, but also to the state."

No better case could be found for the application of the procedural default rule than this case. As the District Court of Appeal mentions in its opinion, this case was initially tried but ended in a mistrial and then retried. Prior to the first trial, a hearing was held on the admissibility of the hearsay evidence in Issue I, and the state, armed with the Russell case, argued that this testimony was admissible pursuant to Section 90.803(23). (T-134-150). (Appendix) In

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